No. 21-CV-543

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEAL

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, Appellant,

v.

TERRIS, PRAVLIK & MILLIAN, LLC, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

#### **BRIEF FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA**

KARL A. RACINE Attorney General for the District of Columbia

LOREN L. ALIKHAN Solicitor General

CAROLINE S. VAN ZILE Principal Deputy Solicitor General

ASHWIN P. PHATAK Deputy Solicitor General

\*RICHARD S. LOVE Senior Assistant Attorney General Office of the Solicitor General

Office of the Attorney General 400 6th Street, NW, Suite 8100 Washington, D.C. 20001 (202) 724-6635 richard.love@dc.gov

\*Counsel expected to argue

#### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

Terris, Pravlik & Millian, LLP ("TPM") brought this action under the District of Columbia Freedom of Information Act, D.C. Code § 2-531 *et seq*. ("DC FOIA"), to compel the production and publication of preliminary budget documents that two District agencies provided to the Mayor. The trial court granted summary judgment to TPM. The issues in this appeal are:

1. Whether preliminary budget documents that the Mayor solicits and reviews to prepare and submit an annual budget to the Council of the District of Columbia ("Council") are exempt from disclosure under DC FOIA's deliberative process privilege.

2. If not, whether these preliminary budget documents are protected by the executive communications privilege inherent in the separation of powers.

3. If not, whether the court was authorized to require the District to publish all documents enumerated in D.C. Code § 2-536 even though the only injunctive remedy available to a requester under DC FOIA is to obtain copies of the requested documents, DC FOIA's publication requirement includes no provision for private enforcement, and TMP lacks standing to seek a publication remedy.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 13, 2020, TPM, a law firm, filed a complaint challenging the District of Columbia's denial of its request under DC FOIA for preliminary budget

submissions to the Mayor from the District of Columbia Public Schools ("DCPS") and the Office of the State Superintendent for Education ("OSSE"), which contain these agencies' initial budget advice and recommendations for fiscal year 2019. Joint Appendix ("JA") 21-49. TPM also challenged the District's decision not to publish the requested documents online. JA 29. On July 23, 2021, the Superior Court granted summary judgment to TPM and ordered the District to produce to TPM and publish online the requested documents by August 5. JA 178-93. On August 5, the same day that the District filed this appeal, this Court granted an administrative stay and held in abeyance the District's motion to stay the trial court's order pending appeal. On August 20, the Superior Court stayed the execution of its order pending appeal and clarified that its July 23 order required the District to publish all the documents enumerated in D.C. Code § 2-536, not just the documents requested by TPM. JA 194-98.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### 1. Legal Framework.

DC FOIA provides "that all persons are entitled to full and complete information regarding the affairs of government and the official acts of those who represent them." D.C. Code § 2-531. Thus, the Court "construe[s] the statutory disclosure provisions liberally and the statutory exemptions from disclosure narrowly." *Padou v. District of Columbia*, 29 A.3d 973, 980 (D.C. 2011). DC FOIA

"provides for full disclosure unless the information requested is exempt under a specific statutory provision." *Barry v. Wash. Post Co.*, 529 A.2d 319, 321 (D.C. 1987).

DC FOIA identifies several categories of documents that may be exempt from disclosure. D.C. Code § 2-534. Among them are "[i]nter-agency or intra-agency memorandums or letters" that "would not be available by law to a party other than a public body in litigation with the public body." *Id.* § 2-534(a)(4). This provision specifically incorporates the deliberative process, attorney-client, and attorney work-product privileges, "among other privileges that may be found by the court." *Id.* § 2-534(e). DC FOIA makes clear, however, that the exemptions from disclosure in Section 534 "shall not operate to permit nondisclosure of information of which disclosure is authorized or mandated by other law." *Id.* § 2-534(c).

Finally, "[w]ithout limiting the meaning of other sections of the subchapter," which include the exemption provisions, DC FOIA requires that certain categories of information be published without the need for any written request; these include "[b]udget requests, submissions, and reports available electronically that agencies, boards, and commissions transmit to the Office of the Budget and Planning during the budget development process." *Id.* § 2-536(a), (a)(6A). "[R]eports on budget implementation and execution prepared by the Office of the Chief Financial Officer ("OCFO"), including baseline budget submissions and appeals, financial status

reports, and strategic plans and performance-based budget submissions" are also made public information. *Id.* § 2-536(a)(6A). This information must be made "available on the Internet" or by other electronic means. *Id.* § 2-536(b).

#### 2. The Executive Budget Proposal Process.

Under the Home Rule Act, D.C. Code § 1-201.01 *et seq.*, the District Charter establishes "the means of governance of the District" of Columbia. *Id.* § 1-203.01. The District Charter vests the executive power of the District "in the Mayor who shall be the chief executive officer of the District government." *Id.* § 1-204.22. It also directs the Mayor to "prepare and submit to the Council each year, and make available to the public, an annual budget for the District of Columbia . . . in such detail as the Mayor determines necessary to reflect the actual financial condition of the District government." *Id.* § 1-204.42(a).

Early in the annual budget development process, the Mayor solicits budget advice and recommendations from each subordinate agency based on her policy and program priorities for the coming year. JA 172  $\P$  6, 177  $\P$  10. In addition to seeking factual information about agency budget needs based on past performance, the Mayor asks agencies to respond to the specific policy and financial priorities she sets and to provide their recommendations for spending any additional funds that may be available. JA 172  $\P$  6. Each agency director then prepares their submission, which includes financial requests and the supporting policy recommendations and rationale, JA 172-73 ¶ 7, 177 ¶ 10, and submits a draft preliminary response to the Mayor through the OCFO. JA 172-73. This begins a deliberative process that includes several rounds of discussion and changes to the agencies' proposed submissions. JA 172-73 ¶ 7. The Mayor then uses this information to formulate her budget policy and draft the budget proposal that she eventually submits to the Council. JA 173 ¶ 8. The OCFO works closely with the Mayor and her team to provide support during the budget process, but the final budget submission is the responsibility of the Mayor. D.C. Code § 1-204.24d(26); JA 177 ¶ ¶ 8-9.

#### 3. TPM's FOIA Request And Superior Court Complaint.

In October 2019, TPM submitted a FOIA request to the Mayor's Office seeking "(1) actual copies—not summaries—of [DCPS's and OSSE's] budget requests for fiscal year 2019, including Form B; (2) any similar documentation describing in detail the agencies' budget needs or requests for fiscal year 2019; and (3) information identifying corresponding totals from the final approved budget." JA 11. TPM noted that it was specifically interested in "funding for special education oversight, policy development and compliance issues impacting 3-5-year-olds," and it did "not object to the production being narrowed accordingly." JA 12. TPM also noted that the information it requested "should be accessible to the public" under D.C. Code § 2-536(a)(6A), although it did not make any request for publication. JA 11 n.1. In December, TPM was provided a copy of the Mayor's

fiscal year 2019 proposed budget for OSSE but was informed that OSSE's preliminary submission to the Mayor would not be produced because it was "deliberative" and thus "privileged." JA 18-19; *see* JA 24 ¶¶ 10-11.

In January 2020, TPM filed a FOIA appeal with the Mayor's Office. In July, TPM filed the underlying Superior Court complaint seeking a declaratory judgment and order to produce and publish online the requested documents. JA 28. The District moved to dismiss TPM's complaint, which the court denied in February 2021. JA 58-77. In April, TPM filed a motion for summary judgment, which the Council supported with a statement as amicus curiae. JA 7.

The District filed a cross-motion for summary judgment. JA 8. In it, the District argued that the preliminary budget documents that TPM requested were protected by the deliberative process privilege, which was expressly recognized as an exemption to disclosure under D.C. Code § 2-534(a)(4), and it argued that the privilege was not limited by the publication requirements in D.C. Code § 2-536(a)(6A). Defs.' Opp'n and Cross-Mot. for Summ. J. at 6-13. Furthermore, even if the requested documents were not exempt as deliberative, they were protected from disclosure under the executive communications privilege, and requiring their release would violate the separation of powers because under the District's Charter, the Mayor has the exclusive obligation and discretion to submit to the Council the annual budget of her choosing. Defs.' Opp'n and Cross-Mot. for

Summ. J. at 13-25 (citing D.C. Code § 1-204.42(a)). In addition, the District argued that DC FOIA does not provide a private right of action to enforce its publication requirement, that the plaintiff lacked standing, and that prospective publication was not an available remedy. Defs.' Opp'n and Cross-Mot. for Summ. J. at 25-30.

#### 3. The Superior Court's Orders.

On July 23, the Superior Court granted TPM's motion for summary judgment, denied the District's motion, and ordered the District to "respond to TPM's FOIA request" and "publish the required documents pursuant to D.C. Code § 2-536 on or before August 5." JA 193.

The court rejected the District's argument that DC FOIA did not provide a cause of action to enforce the requirement to publish documents online. JA 184-86. The court concluded that "D.C. Code § 2-537 gives any person denied the *right to inspect a public record* standing to bring it before the Superior Court." JA 184; *see* JA 185-86. The court also disagreed with the District's contention that TPM's injury was a generalized grievance insufficient to confer standing. Instead, it found that TPM had requested the preliminary budget documents, which "were not online as required by statute," and that it "had standing to bring its claims before the Court" because its request "was denied." JA 186.

The court also rejected the District's argument that the requested documents were exempt from disclosure under the deliberative process privilege. The court observed that the "documents that the District states are pre-decisional and deliberative are listed in [D.C. Code § 2-536(a)](6A) as documents that need to be produced and published," and it was "hesitant to accept that the Council would draft conflicting statutes." JA 188. But the court did not address the prefatory clause in Section 2-536(a), which states that the publication mandate does not "limit[] the meaning of other sections of this subchapter." *Id.* § 2-536(a). The court also did not accept that D.C. Code § 2-534(c), which provides that the exemptions in Section 534(a) "shall not operate to permit nondisclosure of information of which disclosure is authorized or mandated by *other law*," *id.* § 2-534(c) (emphasis added), referred only to laws outside of DC FOIA. It found that the District's interpretation "would narrow the meaning of other law where DC FOIA urges construction of the law toward expansion of public access." JA 188.

Finally, the court was not persuaded that requiring disclosure of the agencies' initial budget requests to the Mayor would undermine her exclusive responsibility under the District Charter to prepare an initial budget for submission to the Council and unduly interfere with the Mayor's Charter-authorized discretion to determine what to include therein, in violation of separation of powers and the executive communications privilege. JA 190-92. The court found that "the power of the budget is a shared power between *both* the legislative and executive branches." JA 190. And it found that a DC FOIA request for budget documents "made after

budget deliberations occurred, and not *during* the Mayor's discussions with agency leaders and the CFO [Chief Financial Officer], and subsequent submission to the Council," would not "interfere with the Mayor's access [or] ability to obtain candid and informed opinions from [her] advisors." JA 191. The court also found that the executive communications privilege, which it did not recognize, was in any event inapplicable because the budget "is a shared power between the Mayor and the Council," and because the "Mayor does not formulate the budget on her own, but with the advice of the CFO." JA 192.

On August 5, the District timely filed its appeal of the Superior Court's order, which this Court administratively stayed the same day. On August 20, the trial court stayed its July 23 order pending resolution of this appeal. JA 197. It also clarified that its July 23 order required the District to "publish the documents pursuant to [D.C. Code] § 2-536 which necessarily encompasses the documents requested by" TPM, observing that "D.C. Code § 2-536 specifically enumerates certain documents that the D.C. Council required the government to publish[,] not just the 2019 documents that" TPM requested. JA 196-97.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> On August 25, this Court vacated its administrative stay and denied as moot the District's motion to stay pending appeal in light of the Superior Court's order.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

This Court reviews de novo the trial court's entry of summary judgment. *Fraternal Ord. of Police v. District of Columbia* ("*FOP*"), 79 A.3d 347, 353 (D.C. 2013). Summary judgment is proper "when there are no genuine issues as to any material facts" and the record shows that "the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Doe v. Safeway, Inc.*, 88 A.3d 131, 132 (D.C. 2014).

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

1. The requested documents are protected from disclosure by DC FOIA's deliberative process privilege. Those agency-submitted preliminary budget documents are indisputably pre-decisional and deliberative because they are part of the consultative process through which the Mayor develops the budget proposal that she submits to the Council. Requiring their production would discourage candid discussion between agencies and the Mayor and undermine the Mayor's ability to make budgetary decisions. Nonetheless, the trial court found that DC FOIA's publication provision in D.C. Code § 2-536(a)(6A) was an "other law" under D.C. Code § 2-534(c) that superseded the deliberative process privilege and mandated disclosure. But the Superior Court ignored this Court's prior, binding precedent holding that DC FOIA's exemption provisions prevent the disclosure of documents otherwise required to be made public by its publication provision. That precedent explains that the publication requirement must be construed "[w]ithout limiting the

meaning of other sections of the subchapter," D.C. Code § 2-536(a), which include the exemption provisions. Further, the trial court's construction of "other law" does not accord with the ordinary meaning of "other" as *different from or not the same as* DC FOIA. Finally, even if there was some ambiguity in DC FOIA's exemption and publication provisions, interpreting them as the trial court did raises serious separation-of-powers questions that this Court can and should avoid.

2. If DC FOIA does not prevent disclosure, the requested documents are protected by the executive communications privilege inherent in the separation of This Court has affirmed that separation-of-powers principles are a powers. recognized part of the District government's structure and that its Charter, like the federal Constitution and state constitutions, vests executive power in the Mayor. Inherent in the separation of powers is an executive communications privilege. At the federal level, that privilege traditionally protects the President's ability to confidentially obtain candid and informed opinions from his advisors so that he can faithfully carry out his constitutionally assigned duties and effectively make decisions. State courts that have considered the issue, often in addressing disputes over documents requested under public records acts similar to DC FOIA, have found that the rationale to protect presidential communications applies with equal force to communications made to foster and inform sound gubernatorial deliberations and

policymaking. For those same reasons, the Mayor must also enjoy the protections of the executive communications privilege.

Preliminary budget requests from District agencies to the Mayor are executive communications that are protected from disclosure by the Mayor's assertion of the executive communications privilege. Application of the privilege is necessary to ensure that the Mayor receives the full, candid, and objective advice necessary for the Mayor to faithfully and effectively carry out her exclusive duty under the District Charter to propose an annual budget. The Superior Court disagreed, believing that the Mayor's ability to develop her budget would not be chilled by after-the-fact production of preliminary budget documents. But it is the knowledge that their assessments and recommendations will be disclosed, not the timing of that disclosure, that would chill agencies from providing candid assessments and recommendations to the Mayor. Nor is the executive communications privilege inapplicable because passing the budget is a shared power between the Mayor and Council. While it is true that each branch has a role in the budget development process, the Mayor's duty under the Charter to prepare and submit an annual budget to the Council is explicit and exclusive. And while the CFO and Office of Budget and Planning assist in that duty, the preliminary budget information transmitted by OSSE and DCPS to the Mayor belongs to and is used by the Mayor in formulating her budget policy.

3. The trial court also erred in ordering publication of the documents enumerated in D.C. Code § 2-536 because DC FOIA's statutory scheme does not permit a private party to force, let alone authorize the court to order, such publication, and TMP has no standing to seek it. The trial court failed to account for the statute's text, which authorized the court to order production when a person was denied the right to *inspect* a public record but had no similar provision regarding the publication of documents. Nor did it address case law holding that the analogous federal FOIA does not authorize district courts to order an agency to make available for public inspection documents subject to its publication provision.

The trial court also erred in ordering prospective publication. TPM is not entitled to prospective relief for documents not yet in existence. And even if it is, prospective publication is only appropriate in rare circumstances that do not apply here. Finally, the court lacked authority to order publication of documents that TPM had not even requested.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. DC FOIA Requires Neither Production Nor Publication Of Agency Preliminary Budget Documents.

# A. The agency's preliminary budget documents are protected from disclosure under the deliberative process privilege.

Although DC FOIA promotes government transparency and access to public documents, its open government objectives are not absolute; the statutory scheme builds in numerous exemptions that shield documents from disclosure. Among the documents exempted are "[i]nter-agency or intra-agency memorandums or letters" that "would not be available by law to a party . . . in litigation with the public body." D.C. Code § 2-534(a)(4). This exemption expressly shields documents protected by the deliberative process privilege. *Id.* § 2-534(e).

It is undisputed that the requested documents here fall within the "The deliberative process privilege shelters deliberative process privilege. documents reflecting advisory opinions, recommendations and deliberations comprising part of a process by which governmental decisions and policies are formulated." FOP, 79 A.3d at 354-55 (internal quotation marks omitted). The privilege "protects agencies from being forced to operate in a fishbowl" and "applies when production of the contested document would be injurious to the consultative functions of government that the privilege of nondisclosure protects." *Elec. Frontier* Found. v. U.S. Dep't of Just., 739 F.3d 1, 7 (D.C. Cir. 2014) (internal quotation marks omitted).<sup>2</sup> To qualify, the documents must be pre-decisional—prepared to assist the decision maker "in arriving at [her] decision"-and deliberative-"reflect[ing] the give and take of the consultative process." FOP, 79 A.3d at 354 (internal quotation marks omitted). The "key question" in determining if the

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