No. 21-CV-0543



Received 01/28/2022 01:11 PM Filed 01/28/2022 01:11 PM

In the District of Columbia Court of Appeals

# DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, *Appellant*,

v.

TERRIS, PRAVLIK & MILLIAN, LLP, Appellee.

On Appeal from a Judgment of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia

## **BRIEF FOR APPELLEE**

KATHLEEN L. MILLIAN, DC Bar 412350 \*TODD A. GLUCKMAN, DC Bar 1004129 NICHOLAS SOARES, DC Bar 1015662 Terris, Pravlik & Millian, LLP 1816 12th Street, NW, Suite 303 Washington, DC 20009 (202) 682-2100 Fax: (202) 289-6795 tgluckman@tpmlaw.com

Counsel for Appellee

January 28, 2022

\*Counsel expected to argue

#### **DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULES 28(a)(2) AND 26.1**

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

The findings of the Superior Court were correct. First, TPM had a right to inspect the documents at issue, it requested them, the documents were not produced or posted online, and TPM petitioned the Mayor, who did not respond. TPM more than satisfied the requirements for suit and had the right to "institute proceedings for injunctive or declaratory relief." D.C. Code § 2-537(a)(1). The Superior Court correctly found that TPM has standing and a cause of action to litigate its claims, including its claim related to the failure to post documents online.

Second, DC FOIA explicitly makes certain budget-related documents "public information" and requires them to be posted online. D.C. Code § 2-536(a)(6A) and (b). The Mayor refused to produce or post those documents, claiming that they are protected by the deliberative process privilege. The Superior Court correctly rejected that argument, consistent with the plain language of the D.C. Code.

Third, the Superior Court correctly rejected the Mayor's contention that D.C. Code § 2-536(a)(6A) ("paragraph 6A") violates the separation of powers or any executive privilege inherent therein. The separation of powers does not require this Court to establish, for the first time, an executive communications privilege in the District and doing so as the Mayor proposes would impermissibly interfere with the Council's own authority. Paragraph 6A is a valid exercise of the Council's legislative authority and abrogated any privilege that the Mayor could have claimed. Further, the information sought is not of the type protected by such a privilege.

Fourth, in addition to broad equitable powers, the Superior Court has the power under DC FOIA to "enjoin the public body from withholding records." D.C. Code § 2-537(b). That provision is ample authority for the Superior Court to order the District to comply with its own law by posting documents online.

### ARGUMENT

## I. THE SUPERIOR COURT CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT TPM HAS STANDING TO BRING ALL OF ITS CLAIMS

## A. There is No Dispute that TPM Has Standing to Litigate its Claim for Failure to Produce the Requested Documents

Whenever a FOIA request is denied, the requestor has standing to sue. See,

e.g., Grayson v. AT & T Corp., 15 A.3d 219, 231 n.24 (D.C. 2011). Accordingly, it

is undisputed that TPM has standing with regard to its first claim, which relates to

the failure to produce the requested documents. See JA 183.

### B. The Superior Court Correctly Concluded that TPM has Standing to Litigate its Claim for the Failure to Post the Requested Documents Online

## 1. <u>The District Can Be Sued for Failing to Post Required Documents</u> <u>Online</u>

D.C. Code § 2-536(a)(6A) and (b) require the District to post certain budget-

related documents online. Despite that, the Mayor argues that no plaintiff has the

right to sue to enforce that obligation. See Brief for the District of Columbia ("Def.

Br."), pp. 35-38. Her argument disregards the statutory text conveying that right:

- "Any person has a right to inspect, and at his or her discretion, to copy any [non-exempt] public record . . . ." D.C. Code § 2-532(a).
- "[A]ny person denied the right to inspect a public record of a public body may petition the Mayor . . . ." D.C. Code § 2-537(a).
- "If the Mayor denies the petition or does not make a [timely] determination . . . the person seeking disclosure may institute proceedings for injunctive or declaratory relief" in the Superior Court. D.C. Code § 2-537(a)(1).

• The Superior Court "may enjoin the public body from withholding records and order the production of any records improperly withheld from the person seeking disclosure." D.C. Code § 2-537(b).

TPM had a right to inspect the documents, was deprived of that right when it could not locate the documents online, and it petitioned the Mayor, who did not respond. *See* p. 3 above. TPM therefore had a right to sue.

The Mayor disagrees, contending that because DC FOIA obligates the District to produce documents in response to "requests," and no "request" needs to be made for documents that are required to be posted online, no plaintiff may sue when the District fails to post required documents online. Def. Br. 36-37. However, DC FOIA does not condition suit on a "request" or prohibit a challenge to the failure to post documents online. As the Superior Court explained (JA 185-186):

D.C. Code § 2-537 explicitly mentions the denial of the *right* to inspect a public record, not the denial of the request. If a person is denied the *right* to inspect a public record, that person has the right to petition the Mayor, D.C. Code § 2-537(a), and if the Mayor denies or fails to respond within ten (10) business days, the "person seeking disclosure may institute proceedings for injunctive or declaratory relief." D.C. Code § 2-537(a)(1). [emphases in original]

In light of the plain provisions of D.C. Code § 2-537 permitting suit, TPM had the

right to sue and the Mayor's contrary argument must be rejected. See Coleman v.

*D.C.*, 80 A.3d 1028, 1031 & n.3 (D.C. 2013) (describing "strong presumption" of reviewability and the high burden necessary to rebut it).<sup>3</sup>

The Mayor contends (Def. Br. 37) that her argument is bolstered by *Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in Washington v. U.S. DOJ*, 846 F.3d 1235, 1240 (D.C. Cir. 2017) ("*CREW I*"). However, that decision explicitly states the contrary (*ibid.*): "Equally certain under our case law [related to federal FOIA], a plaintiff may bring an action under FOIA to enforce the reading-room provision [the requirement to post online], and may do so without first making a request for specific records . . . ."<sup>4</sup>

Regardless, after TPM could not locate the documents online, it submitted a request for them and informed the District that the documents were required to be publicly available without a request. JA 11 n.1 (quoting paragraph 6A); *see also* JA 196. Therefore, even if a request was required, TPM made one.

### 2. <u>TPM Has Standing to Sue the District for Failing to Post the</u> <u>Required Documents Online</u>

Plaintiffs have standing because "[t]heir inability to inspect documents in virtual reading rooms harmed them in real-world ways; their injuries are different

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Mayor italicizes the word "inspect" in DC FOIA provisions, seemingly to suggest that a person could only "inspect" a document produced in response to a FOIA request, rather than a document that was placed online. Def. Br. 13, 36. However, a person is equally "denied the right to inspect a public record" (D.C. Code § 2-537(a)) if the District fails to place it online as required. *See also* § 2-537(c) (distinguishing "inspect[ing]" from "receiv[ing]" records).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The analysis in *CREW I* of the remedy for such suits is addressed in Section IV.

from the injuries sustained by other Americans who never regularly visited these online reading rooms." Animal Legal Def. Fund v. USDA, 935 F.3d 858, 869 (9th Cir. 2019) ("ALDF"); see also New York Legal Assistance Group v. Bd. of Immigration Appeals, 987 F.3d 207, 216 n.18 (2d Cir. 2021) ("NYLAG") (standing where "the agency's failure to make unpublished [] decisions publicly available impairs [the plaintiff's] ability to represent clients in immigration proceedings" (cleaned up)); Campaign for Accountability v. U.S. DOJ, 278 F. Supp. 3d 303, 318 (D.D.C. 2017) (standing to challenge failure to post documents online where plaintiff requested that the agency do so). By contrast, a plaintiff cannot sue if the plaintiff does not identify any injury to itself. Prisology v. Federal Bureau of Prisons, 852 F.3d 1114, 1116-1118 (D.C. Cir. 2017) (no standing to challenge failure to post documents online because plaintiff made no request for the documents and did not allege any injury that would differentiate it from the public at large).

TPM searched for, failed to find, and requested the budget-related documents as part of its monitoring role for *DL* and informed the District that they must be publicly available online. JA 78, para. 2; JA 11-12; JA 23-24, paras. 7, 10; JA 53-54, paras. 7, 10; JA 32-33. TPM also called the relevant FOIA office (JA 23, para. 9), was told to expect a call back but received none (*ibid*.), and appealed the ultimate refusal to the Mayor (JA 30-36) but never received a decision (JA 79, para. 4). Contrary to the Mayor's arguments (Def. Br. 39-40), TPM did more than enough to establish standing as to its claim related to the failure to post the documents online.

The Mayor contends that TPM only has an abstract, generalized grievance and lacks a concrete injury. Def. Br. 39-40. To the contrary, it is undisputed that TPM searched for the documents online and that "TPM's interest in updated versions of such documents has repeated and will repeat on an annual basis because the *DL* injunction is ongoing." JA 78, para. 2. Thus, the Superior Court correctly concluded that TPM has standing to litigate its second claim related to the failure to post documents online in violation of DC FOIA. JA 184-186.

### II. THE SUPERIOR COURT CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT THE DISTRICT VIOLATED DC FOIA BY FAILING TO PRODUCE THE REQUESTED DOCUMENTS AND POST THEM ONLINE

#### A. The D.C. Code Makes the Requested Information Public

The Mayor agrees that it is the public policy of the District "that all persons are entitled to full and complete information" about their government and that all of DC FOIA's provisions are to be "construed with the view toward expansion of public access and the minimization of costs and time delays to persons requesting information." D.C. Code § 2-531; *see* Def. Br. 2-3.

This Court has explained that this is a "strong policy of disclosure" where "the provisions . . . giving citizens the right of access are to be generously construed, while the statutory exemptions from disclosure are to be narrowly construed, with

ambiguities resolved in favor of disclosure." *Fraternal Order of Police v. D.C.*, 79 A.3d 347, 354 (D.C. 2013) (quotation omitted).

D.C. Code § 2-532(a) states that "[a]ny person has a right to inspect, and . . . copy any public record of a public body, except as otherwise expressly provided by § 2-534 . . . ." Section 2-534 states that the following matters "may be exempt from disclosure" and includes in that list documents covered by the deliberative process privilege. *See* D.C. Code § 2-534(a)(4) & (e). Section 2-534(c) states: "This section shall not operate to permit nondisclosure of information of which disclosure is authorized or mandated by other law." Taking account of the double negative, D.C. Code § 2-534(c) means that the exemptions to mandatory disclosure spelled out in D.C. Code § 2-534 shall not be used to prevent disclosure if "disclosure is authorized or mandated by other law."

D.C. Code § 2-536 ("Information which must be made public") lists information that must be made public and placed online. Subsection (a) begins:

Without limiting the meaning of other sections of this subchapter, the following categories of information are specifically made public information, and do not require a written request for information . . . .

Following that is a list of twelve "categories of information [that] are specifically made public information." That list includes the budget-related documents at issue, which are found in paragraph 6A (Section 2-536(a)(6A)):

Budget requests, submissions, and reports available electronically that agencies, boards, and commissions transmit to the Office of the Budget

and Planning during the budget development process, as well as reports on budget implementation and execution prepared by the Office of the Chief Financial Officer, including baseline budget submissions and appeals, financial status reports, and strategic plans and performancebased budget submissions[.]

D.C. Code § 2-536(b) underscores the fact that making these materials public

is a mandatory obligation. It states that "each public body shall make records

available on the Internet" and that it "is intended to apply only to information that

must be made public pursuant to this subsection" (emphases added).

Paragraph 6A was added to the Code in 2004. The rationale for it was

described in the amendment to Bill 15-768 through which it became law (JA 92-95):

Members of the public and advocacy groups have stated that it is very difficult to participate in the budget process because of the lack of sufficient information. They have further stated that their requests for documents and reports that are a key part of budget analysis and deliberations – baseline budget submissions and appeals, regular financial status reports, and the like – are often not fulfilled on a timely basis. This amendment would expand public access to key budget documents so that residents can participate more fully in the budget dialogue, and would promote accountability by making the financial operations of the District government more transparent.

Thus, paragraph 6A was added to DC FOIA to allow public access to the exact type

of budget documents that TPM requested (JA 11).

In 2014, the District underscored its commitment to open government and

described steps that it would take to increase transparency. The Office of the Mayor

issued Mayor's Order 2014-170 (JA 96-103), which states the following (JA 96, 98):

The District . . . is committed to creating an unprecedented level of openness in government. . . .

The District has been a leader in government transparency and open data policy in the United States. In 2001, the Freedom of Information Act was amended to require that certain public records be published online. Since 2006, the District has been making data publicly available on the Internet. . . .

... Each agency shall be responsible for ensuring that the information required to be published online is accessible from the agency's ... webpage. The required information shall include, but is not limited to, where applicable: ... <u>The information required to be made public under this Directive and D.C. Official Code § 2-536</u> [that is where paragraph 6A appears], <u>including links to: ... G. Budget Information</u> .... [emphases added]

To summarize: (1) D.C. Code § 2-531 (and subsequent statements by the Office of the Mayor) explain that DC FOIA is to be "construed with the view toward expansion of public access"; (2) D.C. Code § 2-534 states that the District may invoke several privileges, including the deliberative process privilege, but in no case may the District hold back materials otherwise authorized or mandated for release by "other law"; and (3) Paragraph 6A of D.C. Code § 2-536 explicitly mandates and authorizes that, "[w]ithout limiting the meaning of other sections of this subchapter," a variety of materials, including the requested materials, are "public information."

"Statutory construction is a holistic endeavor, and, at a minimum, must account for a statute's full text, language, structure, and subject matter." *Padou v*. *D.C.*, 29 A.3d 973, 980 (D.C. 2011) (cleaned up). The Superior Court held (JA 188-189) that a fair and holistic reading of these provisions, consistent with the broad disclosure mandate in the law (*see* pp. 10-11 above), is that paragraph 6A is an "other law" and that the documents explicitly made public in paragraph 6A cannot be withheld on a deliberative process claim.

The Mayor contends (1) that this interpretation makes the deliberative process and other Section 2-534 exemptions "meaningless," and (2) that the proper way to interpret DC FOIA is to read the deliberative process privilege under Section 2-534 as preventing the disclosure of the vast majority of documents explicitly made public under paragraph 6A. Def. Br. 18-19. Neither point has merit. Another provision of Section 2-536(a) provides a simple demonstration of this fact.

Paragraph 2 (Section 2-536(a)(2) and (b)) states that "Administrative staff manuals" are public information that must be available online without the need for a written request. If an individual requested a draft staff manual under DC FOIA, the District would likely argue that it is protected by the deliberative process privilege under Section 2-534 and that the requirement to place "staff manuals" online under Section 2-536 does not change that fact. The provisions work together. Section 2-536(a)(2) requires disclosure of staff manuals. Section 2-534(a)(4) would protect drafts if they fall within the deliberative process privilege.

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